

China

Huixin Ke

Overview

China is a vast country stretching from the western fringes of Asia to the shores of the Pacific Ocean. The country experiences a range of climates and possesses a diversity of landforms. It has a surface area of 9,596,960 square kilometres, of which 97.2 percent is land and 2.8 percent is water. China is also well known as the most populous country in the world with a population of 1.3 billion¹ (within the mainland in 2000), of which 91.6 percent are Han and the remaining 8.4 percent are from 55 minority groups.² These minority groups speak 72 languages, of which 54 have written forms and 25 are still in use. For the Chinese language, there exists 7 dialect regions and over 100 dialect communities.³ Mandarin is the official language in the country, and Chinese is one of the working languages in the United Nations. Chinese speakers represent the largest linguistic group in the world.

There is a sharp difference in economic development between different regions in the country. The coastal areas, the special zones and the central cities in the hinterland have prosperous business communities and have access to advanced science and technology. The western and middle parts of the country are underdeveloped, but they possess tremendous potential for development. Agriculture plays a significant role in the national economy. According to statistics (which exclude Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan), China's GDP was RMB 10,200 billion in 2002, enjoying an increase of 8 percent over the previous year based on comparable prices.⁴ Preliminary statistics from the Customs Office show that the total value of imports and exports was US\$174.5 billion (US\$1 is about RMB 8.27) for the period January to April 2002. There was an increase of 10.5 percent to US\$91.4 billion in exports and an increase of 12 percent to US\$83.1 billion in imports.⁵ Foreign currency reserves amounted to US\$274.6 billion by the end of November 2002.⁶

There are 9 network operators and about 200 ISPs in China that have the licence to provide services to all the provinces. The network operators enjoy independent rights of international exports, and the total value of their international bandwidth exports reached 9,380 Mbps by the end of 2002, up 1,782.5 Mbps from December 2001 but down 1,196.5 Mbps from June 2002.⁷

Among families living in urban areas, 38 percent own computers, compared to a national ownership rate of 11 percent.⁸ A survey conducted by the China Internet Network Information Centre (CNNIC) in January 2003 showed that the number of computers logging on to the Internet was about 20.8 million. Of this total, 14.8 million used dial-up connections, while the remaining 6.0 million used other forms of dedicated connections.⁹

The number of telephone subscribers, by December 2002, amounted to 214.4 million with a penetration rate of 33.7 telephones per 100 people. The number of mobile phone subscribers amounted to 206.6 million with a penetration rate of 16.2 telephones per 100 people. The proportion of villages that had telephones was 85.3 percent.¹⁰

The CNNIC survey in January 2003 revealed that the current number of Chinese netizens¹¹ was 59.1 million or 3.5 times that for the same period in 2000 and 95.4 times that for 1997. Male netizens accounted for 59.3 percent and female 40.7 percent. The largest group was the 18–24 years age group (37.3 percent), while those under 18 years (17.6 percent) and those 25–30 years old (16.9 percent) took second and third places.¹² The netizens surfed the Internet mainly from home (62.1 percent) and the workplace (43.3 percent). Most of them paid for their own connections (77.1 percent), a much smaller group used connections at their workplace (10.1 percent), and a third group who used connections paid for by themselves as well as at their workplace accounted for 12.8 percent.¹³ In terms of the cost of Internet access per month 39.5 percent spent less than RMB 50, 30.6 percent spent RMB 51–100, and 21.9 percent spent RMB 101–200. Netizens surfed the Internet for two main purposes: to find information (53.1 percent) and for entertainment (24.6 percent).¹⁴

There is a sharp digital divide between the eastern and the western parts of the country. This is obvious in indicators such as per-capita telecommunications services consumption. The divide is particularly clear in rural areas. For instance, in May 2001, the reach of the fixed-line telephone network in the rural areas of the more developed eastern parts was about 4.1 times that of the rural areas in the west of the country.¹⁵

However, it should be pointed out that the east-west digital divide is not as pronounced as the economic disparity between the two regions. In fact, heavy capital investments have been made in the western hinterland in response to the government's call to eliminate the digital divide. The development level of the telecommunications industry there now exceeds the level of local economic development. From 1996 to 2000, the average growth rates of the fixed-line telephone network and of the cellular phone network were about 4 and 13 times that of the local per-capita GDP, respectively.¹⁶ In addition, the difference in the proportion of netizens between the eastern¹⁷ and the western¹⁸ regions has dropped from 54.1 percent¹⁹ in 1997 to 26.6 percent²⁰ in 2002.

The increasingly sophisticated operations of IT companies in recent years have led to a corresponding demand for IT workers with more sophisticated skills. The preference now is for people who have a range of IT skills and ideally possess work and professional experience from other fields in addition to IT.

Content

Chinese websites account for 81.4 percent²¹ of all websites visited by Chinese netizens. The total number of domain names registered under “.cn” is 179,544.²²

Agriculture and rural development

At present, there are 1,600 Chinese agricultural websites,²³ including those of agricultural enterprises (37 percent) and the government (17.4 percent) as well as educational and technological websites (16.4 percent).²⁴ Most of them provide market information, science education, policies and management (61 percent),²⁵ as well as some e-commerce.

Industry and business

About 50 percent of large and medium enterprises publish their product information on the Internet²⁶ (as of end of 2000), and company websites account for 77.8 percent²⁷ of all Chinese websites (as of June 2001).

Health and nutrition

Chinese health and medical websites fall into three categories: medical knowledge, medical e-commerce, and industrial and research information.

China facts

Total population: 1,295,330,000 (2001)^a

Rural population as a percentage of total population: 63.91% (2000)^a

Key economic sectors: Energy, mining, manufacturing, construction, transport, storage, post and telecommunications, wholesale and retail trade, catering services, tourism, finance and insurance, real estate

Literacy in the national language(s)*: 93.3% (2000)^a

Literacy in English: 12.7% (2001 estimated)^b

Computer ownership per 100 inhabitants: Approximately 11 (2002)^c

Telephone lines per 100 inhabitants: Approximately 32 (2002)^d

Internet hosts per 10,000 inhabitants: Approximately 2.2 (2002)^e

Cell phone subscribers per 100 inhabitants: Approximately 15 (2002)^d

Number of webpages in the national language(s): 92.45%

Number of webpages in English and other languages: 7.6% (2001)^f

National bandwidth to and from the country: 10,576.5 Mbps (2002)^e

Sources:

- (a) National Bureau of Statistics (2001). *The main Data Communiqué of the Fifth Census of China (2000)* (No. 1).
- (b) This refers to the proportion of English learners, numbering 65 million, in the total population. Lingo Media <<http://www.lingomedia.com/products/markets.html>>.
- (c) Liu , Xiaofeng (2002). Jiajia: Talk about the advantages of Jiajia-e.
- (d) Ministry of Information Industry (2002). *Accomplishments of the Main Indicators of the Communication Industry in September*.
- (e) CNNIC. *Statistical Report on China's Internet Development 2002/7*, p. 6.
- (f) CNNIC (2001). *Survey Report on the Quantity of China's Internet Information Resources*.

* Illiteracy refers to people aged above 15 years who are unable to read and write.

Technology

Chinese technological websites fall under three categories: central and local governments technology, industrial technology, and technological associations, covering the areas of steel, architecture, water conservancy, aerospace, metallurgy, light industry, electric power, etc.

Government

By the end of June 2002, 81.1 percent of all provincial government and ministerial departments had established homepages and 57.5 percent of provincial and municipal government departments had established websites.²⁸ The content and services provided by these websites include function/service introduction (87 percent), government announcements/law and regulations (79.2 percent), government news (77.6 percent), industrial/regional information (76 percent), statistics query (21.9 percent), and online consultation/complaints (5.7 percent).²⁹

Political groupings

Major Chinese political groups, such as the All-China Trade Union and China Communist Youth's League, have set up websites to provide basic information about the groups.

Culture and literature

Chinese cultural websites specialise in various themes. Television and movies, music and literature are the main interests of netizens.³⁰

News and current affairs

News has become the main interest of Chinese netizens, with 75.8 percent of them making regular visits to news websites.³¹ Chinese news websites fall into three categories: traditional media, commercial gateways, and local news sites.

Commerce

By 2001, 1,345 B2B websites had been set up (149 comprehensive and 1,196 professional)³² and the electronics industry was the most active participant in e-commerce (35.1 percent).³³ A year later, there were 2,056 Chinese B2C websites (270 comprehensive and 1,786 professional).³⁴ These websites sell mainly cheap consumer items.

Tourism

There were more than 300 tourism e-commerce websites in 2000,³⁵ which were operated mainly by website companies and travel agents. Besides services such as tourist

information and reservation, the sites have started to develop online reservation and online payment services. They are also the earliest content providers using WAP.

Important local sources of content

<<http://www.sina.com.cn>> This is the largest and most comprehensive Chinese website in the world. It is in Chinese.

<<http://www.sohu.com>> Founded in August 1996 and developed from the first Chinese search engine. It is in Chinese.

<<http://www.163.com>> This famous Chinese website is a two-time winner of the Best Ten Chinese Websites Award from CNNIC. It is in Chinese.

<<http://www.ce.net.cn>> This is the largest Chinese B2B e-commerce website. It uses Chinese and English.

<<http://www.chinachamber.com.cn>> Established by the All-China Industrial and Commercial Union, this site went into partnership with <<http://www.ce.net.cn>> in May 2000. This site is in Chinese and English.

<<http://www.alibaba.com>> This is the world's largest marketplace for global trade, offering information on 27 industry categories. It has initiated the fourth Internet commercial mode: e-market. As a supplier, it provides a special platform for Chinese exporters to display their products and information and it targets the global buying community. The site is in Chinese, English, Japanese and Korean.

<<http://www.rongshu.com>> This is the biggest Chinese cultural and artistic website with an average of 6,000 new articles submitted daily and about 750,000 articles in its archive. It uses Chinese.

<<http://www.ctrip.com>> This website introduces scenic spots all over China and provides online reservation services. It is in simplified and traditional Chinese as well as English.

<<http://www.people.com.cn>> Established by the newspaper *People's Daily*, this site disseminates information about China in seven languages: Chinese, English, Japanese, French, Russian, Spanish and Arabian.

<<http://www.xinhuanet.com>> Established by the national Xinhua News Agency, this site supplies international news 24 hours a day in seven languages: simplified and traditional Chinese, English, French, Spanish, Russian, Arabian and Japanese. About 5,000 news items are published daily.

CERNET <<http://www.edu.cn>> This is a national academic computer network established principally to serve educational and research institutions. It is in Chinese and English.

<<http://ccidnet.com>> This is the largest Internet and IT information service and commercial service provider. The number of daily visits to this website had reached three million, and the number of registered users, one million by October 2002. It uses Chinese and English.

<<http://www.joyo.com>> This is a comprehensive e-commerce website, with more than two million users.

<<http://www.999.com.cn>> This is the largest Chinese health website in the world. It provides health-care information.

Online services

E-government

The development of e-government in China covers 12 areas. They include central and local government macro economic adjustment and control, tax, customs, public security, social security and national flood control.³⁶ The tax service allows taxpayers to file taxes round the clock.

Distance education and e-learning

Since 1998, 67 Chinese colleges and universities have developed distance education.³⁷ By March 2001, distance education had been implemented in eight disciplines and 51 majors, and degree education had covered four levels: graduate retraining courses, junior college to undergraduate, high school to undergraduate, and common junior college.³⁸ Non-degree education includes refresher courses. At present, distance education in the western part of the country is relatively undeveloped and e-learning in primary and middle schools is weak as well.

E-commerce and e-business

E-commerce is still in its infancy. Although the release of CNNIC's *Survey Report 2003* confirmed that China's Internet population has become the world's second largest, two-thirds of Chinese Internet users have yet to make their first online purchase. Similarly, the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development's (UNCTAD) *E-Commerce and Development Report* showed that China's e-commerce transactions totalled US\$9.3 billion in 2000, representing merely 0.87 percent of its GDP.³⁹

Obstacles to the rapid expansion of e-commerce throughout the country include the following factors: low income levels, logistical difficulties, lack of a credit system and interbank settlement capability, as well as reliance on

traditional payment methods. Guangzhou, Shanghai and Beijing are the three leading players in e-commerce in China because of high PC penetration, the popularity of Internet use and a developing distribution network. Consumers in these cities have also become comfortable with making online payments. Although about 20 million smart cards were sold in 2001, indications are that they have not been used on a large scale.⁴⁰ Many online customers still make their payments offline by cash on delivery, postal order or bank transfer. Ongoing reforms in the banking system will eventually enable online payments to be honoured more extensively.

Security and trust are also major hindrances to the development of e-commerce in China. Recently, in an attempt to remove these obstacles, Guangdong Province has proposed a law which will make secret codes, passwords and fingerprints as legitimate as written signatures to help formalise electronic transactions. It will be China's first law on e-commerce. More initiatives are being considered by the government. The Ministry of Justice set up a special R&D team to develop an E-Commerce Security and Creditability Solution which enabled the launch of an online notary system in 2002 to oversee online transactions.

After China's accession to WTO, an increasing number of Chinese enterprises are under pressure from customers in developed countries to adopt e-business methods. According to UNCTAD's report (2002), the massive size and potential of the market in China will be the determinant for the growth of e-commerce in the Asia-Pacific region in the medium term and of e-commerce volumes globally.⁴¹

Telemedicine

Many hospitals in China have acquired video-based teleconferencing systems and are delivering telemedicine services. However, such services are expensive. The future of telemedicine in China lies in low-end systems that match the capacities of telephone lines, computers and Internet-based applications and enable physicians and patients to navigate the complexity of the health-care system and to obtain health information.

E-conference

Although an e-conference infrastructure and the necessary equipment have been introduced and developed,⁴² their full potential remains to be tapped in China. High costs are currently an inhibitor to e-conferencing being adopted nationwide.

A cost-effective multi-point videoconferencing system via Internet or intranet networks will probably enjoy greater demand in China as such a system will strengthen both the internal and external communication of an organisation, facilitate staff training and increase competitiveness in the international market.

E-forum

E-forum is very popular over the Chinese Internet, covering current affairs, news, economy, sports, entertainment and various other disciplines. Current affairs and news forums are influential. The Power Forum of <<http://www.people.com.cn>> has been visited more than 100 million times.⁴³

E-community

Websites such as Chaoyang Beijing⁴⁴ and Shanghai Community Service Net⁴⁵ have implemented e-community services covering health care, entertainment, training, welfare, etc. Many communities in the cities have built broadband networks and are evolving into intelligent communities.

ICT industries and services

The growth rate of the IT industry has been maintained at two to three times China's GDP growth rate for the past ten years. The value of the communications and electronics industries increased from 1.4 percent of GDP in 1989 to 4.2 percent in 2001. The total value of the electronics industry reached RMB 1,300 billion by the end of 2001, accounting for 10 percent of the total industrial value of the country. The sales volume was RMB 890 billion and the export volume amounted to US\$65 billion. By the end of 2001, the ICT industry had attracted foreign capital worth US\$70 billion, and 61 countries and territories had invested in the ICT sector in China.⁴⁶

The telecommunications industry has also made significant progress. The switching capacity of the GSM network reached 220 million lines in March 2002. China's GSM network has become the largest in the world. The number of fixed-line telephones reached 200 million, which is also ranked first in the world. Both the number of wireless calling users (70 million) and the number of mobile phone users (145 million) also rank highest in the world.⁴⁷

The fixed assets of the communications industry had grown to over RMB 1,000 billion in 2001 compared with RMB 24.5 billion in 1989. The total length of the fibre optic network was 1.97 million kilometres.⁴⁸ During the first half of 2002, the total number of Chinese computer products sold was 4.1 million with a sales value of RMB 33.4 billion. This represented an increase of 17.2 percent and 11.3 percent, respectively, over the same period in 2001.⁴⁹

The year 2001 was the "the year of broadband" in China. The drop in prices of ADSL equipment and subscription rates accelerated and helped to promote the wider adoption of ADSL.

During the period 1991–1999, the sales volume of the Chinese software industry increased from RMB 460 million to RMB 17.6 billion. Its growth rate exceeded the average

growth rate of the software industry in developed countries.⁵⁰ According to CCID Consulting, the sales volume of the software market grew to RMB 34.6 billion in 2002, which represented an increase of 22.1 percent over 2001. Also, the sales volume of the information service market in China had grown to RMB 49.6 billion or an increase of 23.5 percent over 2001.⁵¹

On the services side of the industry, China had more than 96,200 customer service centres by the end of 2001. The sector was worth RMB 10,638 billion and involved 620 organisations. Nearly half (49 percent) of the call centres provided support for application software, which formed the main business of the sector.⁵²

Examples of innovative and key initiatives

The government is implementing three large projects. They are the Network Project of Government, the Network Project of Enterprises and the Network Project of Families. During the Tenth Five-Year Plan period, China will invest RMB 1,700 billion to set up communication networks which are some of the biggest in the world. The networks will deploy advanced technologies, designed to be secure and dependable, and aim to support the economic and social development of the country.⁵³

The e-government project

The development of e-government started in the 1990s.⁵⁴ The main e-government project was launched in April 1999.⁵⁵ In July 2002, the development of e-government entered a new stage of comprehensive planning and development.⁵⁶ There are three main stages in the development of this project:

1. Two unified platforms of an intranet and an extranet were established. Physical isolation was set up between the intranet and the extranet, as well as between the extranet and the Internet. The e-government intranet is intended for government departments above the sub-provincial level. It is physically isolated from the network intended for users below the sub-provincial level. The extranet provides professional services to the public.⁵⁷

2. The "12 Golden Projects" involve every aspect of high-level decision-making. They cover macro-management, tax revenue, public finance, finance, audit, social stability, modernisation of agriculture, "defending and beating the false", flood prevention, and management of droughts. Four of the projects have been launched: Resources System for Official Business, Golden Customs Project, Golden Tax Project and Financial Supervision Project (including Golden Card). The projects are being improved continually and preliminary results have been obtained. China is now launching the development of eight business systems related to the other eight Golden Projects. They are the Macroscopic

Policy Administrative System, Golden Finance Project, Golden Audit Project, Golden Shield Project, Social Security Project, Golden Quality Project, Golden Water Project, and the Golden Agriculture Project.⁵⁸

3. Information resources development includes the building of two information systems and four databases: population database, corporate sector database, natural information resources database and macroeconomic database.⁵⁹

The government has gathered about 80 percent of useful social information resources. It is now the biggest owner of information resources, which include more than 3,000 databases. Unfortunately, most of the databases are not available online because they are not open for public use.⁶⁰

During the Tenth Five-Year Plan period, the e-government information resources will be developed. This will involve the design of an information resources catalogue system as well as an exchange system. Four databases will also be built.⁶¹ The *Law on the Opening of Government Information* will be issued soon. It will establish the legal basis for the sharing of government information resources.⁶²

Since 2002, the e-government development has focused on four areas:

- Refining the whole structure of the e-government
- Accelerating the development of ongoing projects of the central government so as to produce some immediate benefits, which can assist in driving other projects in the programme
- Accelerating the establishment of the management system, security mechanism and a series of routine management methods
- Strengthening the competitiveness of industries and their abilities to innovate⁶³

The government invested RMB 28 billion in the development of e-government in 2001. It is estimated that expenditure in 2002 would reach RMB 35 billion, with an annual increase of nearly 25 percent after that. The 2002 expenditure included RMB 25 billion for hardware, RMB 4.5 billion for software, and RMB 5.5 billion for information services.⁶⁴ This project has greatly improved the development of the IT market. It is forecast that the national e-government project market will be worth about RMB200 billion in the next five years, with software accounting for more than RMB 30 billion.⁶⁵

The enterprise Internet project

The 2001 enterprise Internet project has two main goals:

- To organise the China Internet Exchange Meeting and encourage the participation of enterprises in the meeting, which aims to promote Internet use by enterprises.
- To assist enterprises in connecting to the Internet and developing e-commerce capabilities.

At present, some groups, such as Baoshan Iron and Steel

Corporation, Legend Group, and Haier, have succeeded in the development of online marketing/sales and procurement capabilities.⁶⁶ However, the number of enterprises using the Internet remains very low.

The family Internet project

The family Internet project has adopted the theme of “Information Construction of the Community”. It was launched on 20 December 2001.⁶⁷ The project aims to develop all the elements required for bringing about higher Internet usage. The elements consist of users, telecommunications service providers, content providers and enterprises.⁶⁸

Enabling policies

The government has issued a series of policies and measures on ICTs over the years. They include “Decisions of China Central Communist Party and the State Council on Strengthening Technology Innovation, Developing High Technology and Realising Industrialisation”,⁶⁹ “Transient Regulations on the Innovation Funds of Small and Medium Enterprises of Science and Technology”,⁷⁰ and “Policy Suggestions on Encouraging and Promoting the Development of the Small and Medium Enterprises”.⁷¹ These policies are all aimed at encouraging the development of high-tech industries through financing and tax incentives.

Many policies encourage the development of high-tech and new technologies, support practical technological applications and safeguard the intellectual property right of the new technologies developed, such as “Regulations on Application Promotion of Scientific and Technological Achievement”,⁷² “State Regulation of Science and Technology Award”,⁷³ “Specific Rules of the State Regulation of Science and Technology Award”,⁷⁴ and “Reform Scheme of the State Regulation of Science and Technology Award”.⁷⁵ “Policies to Encourage the Development of the Software Industry and Integrated Circuit Industry”,⁷⁶ issued by the State Council in 2000, provide favourable policies for the software industry and the integrated circuit industry not only in terms of tax incentives and financial assistance, but also in the form of government procurement programmes.

The government has proposed accelerating the penetration rate of the ICT sector in the Outline of the Tenth Five-Year Plan.⁷⁷ The important measures to be undertaken within this proposal include accelerating the implementation of a series of key projects; developing e-commerce; perfecting information networks; increasing Internet transmission speeds; promoting the convergence of telecommunications, television and computers; and developing core technologies.

The fast-track development of China’s IT industry is ensured by strong policy support from the government. For

instance, the Digital Television Project has been listed as one of the 12 important projects of the Tenth Five-Year Plan. The government is aiming to make digital television widely available throughout China within 15 years.⁷⁸ It is forecasted that converting from analogue to digital television may help to create a market of more than RMB 1,000 billion.⁷⁹

China's accession to WTO has brought about intense competition from the foreign counterparts of Chinese enterprises, especially in the telecommunications sector. In order to strengthen the competitiveness of China's telecommunications corporations, the government restructured the telecommunications industry and introduced competitive mechanisms. The huge telecom-munications corporation, China Telecom, has been restructured twice since 2000. Market-oriented operating mechanisms have been introduced into the industry. The government has also provided strong support to Chinese telecommunications corporations in their bids for the 3G mobile telecommunications world standard, TD-SCDMA, and the construction of CDMA and GPRS networks.

In October 2002, the Ministry of Science and Technology launched a RMB 200 million programme to narrow the digital divide in the western areas of China. The programme will build public information systems, conduct educational programmes on ICTs and promote the hardware and software industries. Priority will be accorded to the construction of communication infra-structure, business network development and the improvement of ICT penetration rates. Network computers running on locally developed open source software will also be actively promoted.

The local governments in the western areas are playing an active role in the programme. Chongqing has energetically promoted the application of ICTs among 1,000 enterprises drawn from ten industries. It has also prepared a plan to invest RMB 20 billion in building the Chongqing Infoport. RMB 14 billion from this investment will be spent on building the required infrastructure.⁸⁰

Policy-making and research institutions

Ministry of Information Industry

<<http://www.mii.gov.cn/mii/index.html>>

This ministry was established in 1998 by merging the former Ministry of Post and Telecommunications and the Ministry of Electronics and Information. It is the main regulatory department of the IT industry.

Internet Society of China

<<http://www.isc.org.cn/xhjs/index.htm>>

The society was established on 25 May 2001 by Internet users, stakeholders and concerned research and educational institutions.

China Internet Network Information Centre (CNNIC)

<<http://www.cnnic.net.cn>>

Established on 3 June 1997, CNNIC is responsible for the registration of domain names, IP addresses and AS code distribution and management.

China Information Industry Association (CIIA)

<<http://www.ciia.org.cn>>

Established in March 1990, CIIA is an agent of the IT industry, comprising economic, science, technology and information units in the country.

Regulatory environment

There are four levels in the legal framework governing ICTs in China. The first level comprises the laws approved by the National People's Congress (NPC), the second level contains the administrative rules approved by the State Council, the third level is the legislative interpretations issued by the Supreme Court, and the last level is the administrative regulations formulated by the administrative sectors of industry, such as the Information Industry Ministry.

Laws and regulations governing the security of computer information system

- *The Criminal Law of the People's Republic of China*⁸¹
- *The Decision of Internet Security Formulated by the Standing Committee of the NPC*⁸²
- *Regulation of Safety Protection of Computer Information System*⁸³
- *The Interpretation of Legal Issues related to the Application of Laws concerning the Trial of the Cases of Disturbing the Order of Telecommunication Market*⁸⁴
- *Managerial Methods Governing the Security of Computer Information Networks and the Internet*⁸⁵
- *Temporary Regulations for the Management of Computer Information System Secrecy*⁸⁶
- *Regulations for the Management of Internet Secrecy of Computer Information Systems*⁸⁷
- *Managerial Regulations for the Prevention and Treatment of Computer Virus*⁸⁸

The *Criminal Law*, after amendments, has new articles concerning the punishment for breaching the security of computer information systems and for other computer-related crimes. Other laws and regulations are also provided with articles governing the punishment for criminal acts such as illegal access to computer information systems, privacy violation and copyright infringement. However, the existing laws and regulations do not give clear definitions of cyber crime and data protection. Therefore, they should be amended or new ones formulated in order to ensure network security and data protection.

Laws and regulations relating to the telecommunications market and WTO

China has been a member of WTO since 11 December 2001. The government's commitments concerning communication services (excluding the monopolised services of China Post) include express services, value-added telecommunications services and basic telecom-munications services. In order to fulfil these commitments to open China's telecommunications market, the government had formulated and amended some laws and regulations before China's accession to WTO:

- *Regulations of the Telecommunications Industry*⁸⁹
- *Methods for the Management of Internet Information Services*⁹⁰
- *Methods for the Management of Foreign-funded Telecommunications Enterprises*⁹¹

Intellectual property rights protection

The government has formulated laws governing patents, copyright and intellectual property. The following are related to the protection of the intellectual property of information products and computer network copyright:

- *Regulation for the Protection of Computer Software*⁹²
- *Methods for the Registration of Computer Software Copyright*⁹³
- *Interpretation of the Issues concerning the Applicable Laws Governing Disputes over Computer Network Copyright*⁹⁴
- *Regulation for the Protection of IC Layout Design*⁹⁵

National laws and regulations which have articles concerning the protection of information products and computer network copyright are:

- *Law of Copyright*⁹⁶

Laws which include the copyright owner within the range of protection in the circulation of computer network are:

- *Regulation of the Implementation of Copyright*⁹⁷
- *Regulation of the Implementation of International Copyright*⁹⁸
- *Law of the People's Republic of China Against Unfair Competition*⁹⁹
- *Law of Trademark*¹⁰⁰
- *Law of Copyright*¹⁰¹

The government and its administrative units have formulated special laws and regulations governing the protection of domain names:

- *Methods of Management of China's Internet Domain Names*¹⁰²
- *Detailed Regulations Governing the Implementation of China's Internet Domain Name Registration*¹⁰³
- *Interpretation of the Issues of Applicable Laws of*

*Civil Disputes over Network Domain Names*¹⁰⁴

- *Methods of Solution of Disputes over Domain Names of China's Internet Network Information Centre*¹⁰⁵

Laws and regulations governing Internet content

The government's management of content on the Internet is focused on news, advertising and special information. The relevant laws and regulations are as follows:

- *Methods of Management of Internet Information Services*¹⁰⁶
- *Temporary Regulation of News Websites*¹⁰⁷
- *Methods of Management of Internet BBS*¹⁰⁸
- *Methods of Management of Internet Health Information Services*¹⁰⁹
- *Temporary Regulation of Internet Medical Information Services*¹¹⁰
- *Notice of the Regulation of Broadcast of Movies and Television Shows through the Internet*¹¹¹
- *Temporary Regulation of Internet Publications*¹¹²

Laws and regulations governing telecommunications and Internet management and operation

- *Methods of Management of Telecommunication Construction*¹¹³
- *Methods of Management of Licensing of Telecommunication Business*¹¹⁴
- *Methods of Handling of Inter-telecommunication-network Disputes*¹¹⁵
- *Temporary Regulations of the Management of the Internet Backbone Network*¹¹⁶
- *Regulation of the Management of Civil Telecommunication Interlink*¹¹⁷
- *Methods of Management of Network Accession Services Places*¹¹⁸

Laws governing the protection of e-commerce and consumer rights

Currently, there are no specific laws but some articles governing e-commerce, such as:

- *Law of Contract*¹¹⁹

Some articles are related to the legitimacy of electronic contracts and some are related to their validity:

- *Methods for the Management of Pilot Administration of Medical E-Commerce*¹²⁰
- *Temporary Methods of the Management of Network Securities Authorisation*¹²¹
- *Procedures Governing the Ratification of Network Securities Company Authorisation*¹²²
- *Temporary Methods of Management of Network Banking Services*¹²³

There are no laws governing the legitimacy of digital certificates and digital signatures. Neither are there laws governing the protection of consumer rights in e-commerce.

Open source movement

There are more than nine million Linux users around the world and over 100,000 in China.¹²⁴

Linux companies and products

There are more than ten large vendors of Linux-based software in China, some of which are:

Surfing Platform (China) Software Company¹²⁵

This company was established in 1999 in Beijing and is the first supplier specialising in the production of Linux in Chinese in the country. It issued on 8 April 1999 XteamLinux 1.0. The company develops application software and solutions using the core technology of Chinese Linux operating system (OS).

Turbolinux¹²⁶

This was the first Linux manufacturer in China. Its headquarters are located in San Francisco, California. It started operations in China in April 1999 and released the first Chinese Linux software: Turbolinux 3.0.2 Simplified Chinese. Its main business lies in Linux solutions.

China Microsoft Co. Ltd R&D Headquarters¹²⁷

This company issued China Microsoft Linux (COSIX Linux) 1.x in September 1999. Its core product is Linux OS.

Beijing Redflag Software Technology Co. Ltd¹²⁸

This company issued Redflag Linux 1.0 on 20 October 1999. Its core product is Linux OS and related products.

Promotion of Linux in China

Linux has been around in China for about ten years. Its adoption did not enter the mainstream until 1999 when the government defined its policy to use Linux across all ministries as a counter-measure to China's growing dependence on Microsoft Windows. Most recently, the government has reiterated its intention to promote Linux as the platform for e-government because of its open source nature and safety in deployment.

Promotion of sector administration

The Ministry of Information Industry has clearly stated in the Tenth Five-Year Plan that Linux will be pivotal in advancing China's software industry.¹²⁹

The Linux Support Centre Project¹³⁰ was launched in April 2000 by China's Software Industry Association. The

domestic Linux manufacturers taking part in this campaign have issued their versions of the Chinese server OS and Linux application solutions in a well-coordinated way.

Linux World China¹³¹ is the only Linux forum on special technology organised on an international scale in China. It has attracted Linux manufacturers from China and abroad. This conference is held annually.

Promotion of government procurement

In December 2001, Redflag Linux and China Microsoft Linux defeated Microsoft Windows OS¹³² in supplying software to the government of Beijing. On 29 June 2002, NPC approved the *Law of Government Procurement*,¹³³ which clearly states that the government should give priority to domestically produced software if it is able to provide the same features as those produced by competitors. The promotion of e-government has, at the same time, provided an opportunity for the further development of Chinese Linux.

Industry executives and analysts predict that Linux will also expand into the server market as it gains increasing acceptance among enterprises, thereby eroding Unix's market share in this area.

China is now emerging as one of the world's Linux strongholds. The Evans Data Corp. 2002 Chinese Developer Survey found that two-thirds (65 percent) of Chinese developers expected to write applications for Linux in 2003, close to half (44 percent) had already done so.¹³⁴

Research into ICTs

China's expertise in hardware R&D and its emergence as a manufacturing hub are well known. However, Chinese companies are only slowly progressing towards end-to-end product R&D. In the R&D sector, China is still at level one, where competitive wages and costs are its main strengths. It has still to progress to level two, with productivity and technological competency as its strengths.

The Party Central Committee and the State Council ratified the Outline of Development of High-Tech Research (Plan 863) in 1986. This strategic high-tech blueprint adheres to the principle of limited goals and priority focus. It has funded several key development projects, including ICT R&D projects such as 3G and applicable broadband comprehensive accession systems. Chinese enterprises such as Founder, Legend, Chunlan and TCL have established R&D centres, and built their own capacity for independent creativity. In the meantime, many scholars are very keen to explore the impact of the information highway, new technologies for the dissemination of information and new media for the masses.

Zhongxing Telecommunications Company of China is building a Shanghai R&D centre, which will employ 3,000 people. China Telecom Group has set up its R&D centre in Shanghai. The new centre will monitor development trends in the global telecommunications industry and study cutting

edge technologies and development plans for telecommunications networks, technologies and services. Based on its research, it will formulate technological development policies for the company and propose network development and technological applications.

It has become a trend for multinational companies to establish R&D centres in Beijing since the mid-1990s. In 1998, we saw the first wave of this kind of establishments. The centres which were set up include those belonging to Lucent-Bell Lab, Nokia, Microsoft and other large R&D centres. The Nokia Mobile Phone R&D Institution was founded in September 1999. In the same year, Motorola founded its research institute in Beijing; it now has 18 R&D centres throughout China, employing more than 1,000 researchers in China and other Asian regions. The thrust of these R&D centres is the localisation and development of new products. China has gradually become the main battlefield of these IT companies' R&D work.

Future trends

The government has developed a favourable environment for ICT development in terms of policy support, research subsidies and macro market control. The growth rate of the IT industry has been maintained at two to three times of GDP growth rate for the past ten years. In the outline of the Tenth Five-Year Plan, the government stated its commitment to achieve the development of the IT industry. Therefore, the ICT sector is expected to maintain its steady and continuous growth.

“Informationisation for industrialisation” is one of China's strategic decisions. In referring to information networks, President Jiang Zemin said:

Our basic principle is proactive development, intensive management, avoiding the disadvantages and making use of the advantages, and attaining a major position in the development of the global information network.¹³⁵

The promotion of e-government will also serve to spur the building of the information network for enterprises. The existence of a large number of traditional enterprises means that there is a huge potential market.

Although China's Internet industry has experienced twists and turns, the growth of Internet use has maintained a strong momentum. The current 59.1 million Internet users account for only 4.65 percent of the total population, so in this regard there is plenty of room for development in the coming few years and China may become the largest Internet market in the world.

The TD-SCDMA standard released by China is one of the 3G mobile telecommunications standards. China's mobile telecommunications operators are building the 3G mobile telecommunications network. It is estimated that the network will be available to users in 2003. The number of

wireless Internet users is expected to increase rapidly in the coming two years.¹³⁶

Digital television first emerged in China in 2000. However, it has been tested in only a few cities in the eastern area. A schedule to promote digital television has been made in Shanghai. It is forecasted that the market for digital television will mature by 2004 and that users in Shanghai will reach 400,000–500,000.¹³⁷

Internet service provision has been monopolised by a couple of state-owned companies. Although there is competition among them, they also often work in coordinated ways. Therefore, the market share of these companies is fairly large. This may have a negative impact on the expansion of Internet access.

Owing to the limitation of price and the oversupply of the market, there will not be a significant rise in PC ownership. However, thanks to the promotion of e-government and e-education, the overall demand for ICT hardware will increase.

Under the guidance of the policy of stimulating domestic demand, there was improvement in China's telecommunications industry in the first half of 2002. There are now four large operators competing in China's telecommunications market: China Mobile, China Unicom, China Telecommunications and China Netcom.¹³⁸ The latter two are new operators founded in May 2002. With the accession of the country to WTO, foreign companies may now enter China's telecommunications industry. However, existing companies will maintain their leading position in the short term.

The government is sparing no efforts in maximising the positive impact of the Internet while minimising its negative impact. One of the activities of Plan 863 is China's Digital Library, which is sponsored by the government and launched in April 2000. This project may help to narrow the knowledge gap. Meanwhile, the government has passed several laws to control illegal activities and pornography over the Internet.

The structure of China's broadcasting system and market is very stable. In the coming years, the pattern of competition and share of revenue will not change significantly.

The government has always attached great importance to the role of web-based media in broadcasting and will put a firm grip on the political direction of the development of such media and news websites.

China's network security lags far behind the overall development of the network. Network security is a potentially huge market. In the meantime, the government will further support the development of and research into network security, taking economic interests and social impact into consideration.

The government's strategy of developing the western parts of the country, with the implementation of the policy of “informationisation for industrialisation” in these areas, may see the gaps narrowing between the eastern and western areas.

Select bibliography on China

China.com <<http://www.china.com.cn>> or
<<http://www.china.org.cn>>

Affiliated to China Internet News Centre, China.com introduces China and provides news about the country in Chinese (simplified and traditional), English, Russian, French, German, Japanese, Spanish and Arabic.

China Computer Newspaper <<http://www.ciw.com.cn>>

This website provides information and services in Chinese related to China's informationisation, software, computer and the Internet.

China Education and Research Network

<<http://www.edu.cn>>

This site provides information relevant to China's science and technology, educational policies and regulations as well as links to colleges and universities nationwide in Chinese and English.

China Internet Network Information Centre

<<http://www.cnnic.net.cn>>

This website offers a variety of statistical survey reports on the Internet in Chinese and English.

Chinese Academy of Social Sciences

<<http://www.cass.net.cn>>

Published in Chinese, this site includes information analysis and research results in all the social science fields: economics, politics, philosophy and education.

Computer World <<http://www.computerworld.com.cn>>

China's first professional newspaper on computer and IT, this site provides in Chinese authoritative information on the IT industry.

Chinapost <<http://www.chinapost.gov.cn>>

Built by the Science and Research Design Institute of the State Postal Bureau, this website furnishes postal news, information and technical services in Chinese.

Development Research Centre of the State Council

<<http://www.drc.gov.cn>>

This is a well-known and large specialist website on economics. It presents economic and financial information and research results about China in Chinese and English.

Digital Fortune <<http://www.digitalfortune.com.cn>>

This weekly magazine covers the achievements of China's small and medium high-growth enterprises and is published in Chinese and English.

Internet Society of China (China Information Industry) <<http://www.isc.org.cn>>

This site provides in Chinese the latest information about Internet policies and regulations as well as meetings of the IT industry.

Ministry of Culture <<http://www.ccnt.gov.cn>>

This website offers cultural administration policies and regulations as well as cultural information in Chinese.

Ministry of Information Industry

<<http://www.mii.gov.cn>>

This site provides development updates, policies and regulations on the IT industry in Chinese.

Ministry of Land and Resources

<<http://www.mlr.gov.cn>>

This site provides in Chinese and English information, communiqués, policies and regulations related to the ministry.

National Bureau of Statistics <<http://www.stats.gov.cn>>

This website issues timely statistics on economics, society, consumption, and demographics. It also provides statistical services to the public in Chinese and English.

National Committee of the Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference (CPPCC)

<<http://www.cppcc.gov.cn>>

Connected to local CPPCCs, this site describes in Chinese the structure, personnel, work dynamics and publications related to CPPCCs.

State Administration for Industry and Commerce

<<http://www.saic.gov.cn>>

This website provides regulations, policies, information and analysis about industry and commerce in Chinese.

State Administration of Radio, Film and Television

<<http://www.sarft.gov.cn>>

This site provides in Chinese information packages, communiqués, policies and regulations related to radio, film and television.

State Development Planning Commission

<<http://www.sdpc.gov.cn>>

This site publicises in Chinese the status, strategic plans, policies and regulations related to the national economy and societal development.

State Economic and Trade Commission

<<http://www.setc.gov.cn>>

This website provides, in Chinese and English, information, policies, regulations, and market dynamics related to China's economy and trade.

State Intellectual Property Office

<<http://www.sipo.gov.cn>>

This site provides, in Chinese and English, intellectual property-related development, policies and regulations and describes patent search, application, review and protection.

References

2002 Government Report <<http://fadun.diy.163.com/tianrenwang/overall/zongguofazan019.htm>>.

Beijing Forum on IT Development. <<http://www.itbeijing.org>>.

CCID Consulting (2002). Annual Research Paper of 2001–2002 on Chinese Software Market. <<http://www.edu.cn/20020311/3022283.shtml>>.

China Academy of Sciences, Bureau of Hi-Tech Industry <<http://chanye.cashq.ac.cn/index.asp>>.

China Computer Newspaper <<http://www.ciw.com.cn>>.

China Electronics. <http://www.cena.com.cn>

China Internet Network Information Centre (2001) *Survey Report on the Quantity of China's Internet Information Resources*. <<http://www.cnnic.net.cn/tj>>.

China Internet Network Information Centre (2002). *China Internet Yearbook 2002*. <<http://www.cnnic.net.cn/annual2002>>.

China Internet Network Information Centre (2002). *Statistical Report on Internet Development in China 2002/7*. <<http://www.cci.cn.net/gghtml/tbtj/cnnic/2002-7/cnnic-2002-7.html>>.

China Information Security Product Testing and Certifying Centre <<http://www.itsec.gov.cn>>.

China Journalism Review <<http://www.cjr.com.cn>>

Chinalabs. <<http://www.chinalabs.com>>

China Netizen. <<http://www.chinanetizen.com.cn>>.

China Netizen (2002). Analysis of China's Internet Development Trend. <<http://wy.cnii.com.cn/zgwybrdlm13/index.htm>>.

China Netmedia Forum. <<http://www.woxie.com/news/theme.asp?topic=13>>

China Netmedia Forum (2002). <<http://www.woxie.com/news/theme.asp?topic=18>>.

China Software Industry Association <<http://www.csia.org.cn>>

Commercial Software League <<http://www.chinesebsa.org>>.

Frost & Sullivan Consulting Corporation (China) and CTI Forum 2002. Research Report on the Development of China's Call Center Industry. <http://www.ctiforum.com/users/survey/2002/callcenter/survey_cc2002_05.htm>.

Ministry of Science and Technology, South-Western Information Centre <<http://www.chaxin.org.cn>>.

National Bureau of Statistics (2001). *The Main Data Communiqué of the Fifth Census of China 2000*, (No.1) <<http://www.people.com.cn/GB/shizheng/16/20010328/427870.html>>.

National Technical Achievement Network <<http://www.nast.org.cn/site/index.htm>>.

Online Legal Daily <<http://www.legaldaily.com.cn>>.

State Information Centre and China Software Industry Association (2001). *China Information Yearbook 2001* <<http://www.jcinfo.gov.cn/infomation/index.htm>>.

Sun Lixia (2002). *Chinese Information Industry: From Booming to Stability*. <<http://www.dzdaily.com.cn/it/tebietuijian/200210211080.htm>>.

Tenth Five-Year Plan (2001). <<http://www.chinagateway.com.cn/chinese/gaikuang/2141.htm>>.

Wang Rulin (2001). *Research Report on China's E-commerce Development Status*. <<http://www.emkt.com.cn/article/49/4955.html>>.

Wang Houqin (2002). *Research Report on Global E-Commerce Development*. <http://www.ccidnet.com/market/report/2002/04/02/88_4687.html>.

Wu, Jichuan (2002). A Historical Span of China's Information Industry: A Report at the Serial Report Meeting about the Achievements of China's Reform and Modernization Organized Jointly by Five Departments Including Ministry of Propaganda. <<http://www.mii.gov.cn/Mii/homepage.nsf/documentview/2002-10-18-22-F6B0B298B36FA2D948256C56000A8CB7?OpenDocument>>.

Yu Zhenghua, Xie Baoan & Huang Mei (undated). Development and Application of Distant Medical Care <<http://www.511511.com/wldh/lw100.htm>>.

Zhihua Online Information Network Law Research <<http://www.angelaw.com/weblaw/index.htm>>.

<<http://linux.cosix.com.cn>>.

<<http://tech.163.com>>.

<<http://tech.sina.com.cn>>.

<<http://www.3see.com>>.

<<http://www.bluepoint.com.cn>>.

<<http://www.c114.net>>.

<<http://www.21dnn.com>>.

<<http://www.cb.com.cn>>.

<<http://www.ccidnet.com>>.

<<http://www.chinacb.com>>.

<<http://www.chinabbc.com.cn>>.

<<http://www.chinabyte.com>>.

<<http://www.cnnews.com>>.

<<http://www.eastday.com>>.

<<http://www.linuxworldchina.com>>.

<<http://www.mediachina.net>>.

<<http://www.netdoctor.com.cn>>.

<<http://www.people.com.cn>>.

<<http://www.redflag-linux.com>>.

<<http://www.turbolinux.com.cn>>.

<<http://www.woxie.com>>.

<<http://xinhua.org>>.

<<http://www.xteamlinux.com.cn>>.

Notes

1. National Bureau of Statistics 2001. The Main Data Communique of the Fifth Census of China 2000 (No.1) <<http://www.people.com.cn/GB/shizheng/16/20010328/427870.html>>.
2. Ibid.
3. Bao Dongming (2002). Zhu Xinjun, Committee Member on the Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference and Former Party Secretary of the China Language and Character Committee Proposed to Set up a Language and Character Museum of China. *China Education*, 11 March, p. 2 <<http://www.jyb.com.cn/gb/jybz/2002/whds/272.htm>>.
4. Wang Yongzhi (2002). Director of National Bureau of Statistics Said Chinese GDP Is Expected to be up to More Than RMB 10,200 Billion This Year. <<http://www.chinanews.com.cn/2002-12-31/26/258922.html>>.
5. National Bureau of Statistics (2002). *National Economical Operation Briefing in April*. <<http://www.china.org.cn/ch-company/02-06-20/web020422.htm>>.
6. See note 4.
7. China Internet Network Information Centre (CNNIC) (2003). *Statistical Report on Internet Development in China (2003/1)* <<http://www.cnnic.net.cn/develst/2003-1/7.shtml>>
8. Liu Xiaofeng (2002). Jiajia: Talk about the Advantages of Jiajia-e <<http://www.cnii.com.cn/20020416/ca37534.htm>>.
9. CNNIC (2003). *Statistical Report on Internet Development in China (2003/1)*. <<http://www.cnnic.net.cn/develst/2003-1/4-1.shtml>>.
10. Ministry of Information Industry (2002). *Accomplishments of the Main Indicators of Communication Industry in September*. <<http://www.mii.gov.cn/mii/hyzw/tongji/yb/tongjiziliao 200209.htm>>.
11. The definition of "Net citizen" by CNNIC: a Chinese citizen who uses the Internet at least on average one hour per week. *Statistical Report on Internet Development in China 2002/7*, p. 3.
12. CNNIC (2003). *Statistical Report on Internet Development in China 2003/1*. <<http://www.cnnic.net.cn/develst/2003-1/4-2-1.shtml>>.
13. CNNIC (2002). Countermeasures of Communication Industry in Western Areas of China. <<http://honggudx.westcom.com.cn/news/1006.htm>>
14. CNNIC (2003). *Statistical Report on Internet Development in China (2003/1)* <<http://www.cnnic.net.cn/develst/2003-1/4-2-2.shtml>>.
15. Network and Communication (2002). Development Goal and Countermeasures of Communication Industry in Western Areas of China <<http://honggudx.westcom.com.cn/news/1006.htm>>.
16. Ibid.
17. This refers to the five provinces and municipalities in eastern China, including Beijing, Shanghai, Guangdong Province, Jiangsu Province and Zhejiang Province.
18. This refers to the 12 provinces, municipalities and autonomous regions in western China, including Shaanxi Province, Gansu Province, Qinghai Province, Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region, Xinjiang Uighur Autonomous Region, Sichuan Province, Chongqing, Yunnan Province, Guizhou Province, Tibet (Xizang) Autonomous Region, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region and Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region.
19. CNNIC (1997). *Statistical Report on Internet Development in China 1997/10*. Available webpage: <<http://www.cnnic.net.cn/develst/report1.shtml>>.
20. CNNIC (2002). *Statistical Report on Internet Development in China 2002/1* <<http://www.cnnic.net.cn/develst/2002-1>>.
21. CNNIC (2002). *Statistical Report on Internet Development in China 2002/7*, p. 13.
22. CNNIC (2003). *Statistical Report on Internet Development in China 2003/1* <<http://www.cnnic.net.cn/develst/2003-1/4-2-1.shtml>>.
23. Wu Weibing & Hongliu (2002). Research on Situation and Countermeasures of Agricultural Net Information in China, Beijing Agricultural Information network. <http://www.agri.ac.cn/agri_net/02/2-04/bd120zy.htm>.
24. Ibid.
25. Ibid.
26. CNNIC (2002). *Statistical Report on Internet Development in China 2002/7*, p. 113.
27. Ibid, p. 218.
28. CCID Consulting (2002). *Analysis Report on Application Situation and Demand Tendency of China's E-Governmental Affairs*. <<http://www.ccidconsulting.com/text/topic0826-2.htm>>.
29. CNNIC (2002). *China Internet Yearbook 2002*, p. 219.
30. Xu Wenbo (2000). Introduction of the First "Survey of Top Culture Websites in China" <http://www.ccnt.com.cn/news/news_culture.php3?c=20000710c>.
31. CNNIC (2002). *Statistical Report on Internet Development in China 2002/7*, p. 13.
32. Consumer of China Internet Network (2002). *The Development of China's B2B E-Commerce in 2001*, p. 2 <<http://media.ccidnet.com/media/ccu/517/01601.htm>>.
33. Ibid.
34. Consumer of China Internet Network (2002). *The Development of China's B2C E-Commerce in 2001*, p. 2. <<http://media.ccidnet.com/media/ccu/504/02201.htm>>.
35. Tourisland (2001). The Network about Traveling Is on the Up <http://www.tourisland.com/chn_big5/news/2001/10/2610.htm>.
36. Lead Group of Informationisation of the State Council (2002). *Guidelines on Building up National E-Government*.
37. Education Consulting Online Network (2002). Analysis of the Situation and Development of Distance Education in China. <<http://online-edu.org/article/article/1970.html>>.
38. China Education and Research Network (2002). The Present Condition and Development Trend of Network of Higher Education <http://www.edu.cn/20020517/3026149_1.shtml>.

39. UNCTAD (2000). *E-Commerce and Development Report 2002* <<http://ro.unctad.org/e-commerce/docs/edro2-en/ecdro2ch1.pdf>>.
40. CCID Consulting (2002). Pan Lihua, Secretary-General of the Professional Committee of Smart Card, Talk about the Industry of Smart Card and Its Application <http://www.ccidnet.com/news/enterpriseperson/2002/06/05/109_66990.html>.
41. UNCTAD (2002). *E-Commerce and Development Report 2002*, p. 13 <http://ro.unctad.org/e-commerce/e-commerce_en/edr02_en.htm>.
42. Jia Shuanglin. The Column World <<http://chinabyte.com>>.
43. Xiao Chunjiang (2001). The Way of the People Network <<http://www.people.com.cn/GB/it/48/297/20010604/481118.html>>.
44. <<http://www.bjchy.gov.com>>.
45. <<http://www.88547.com>>
46. Wu Jichuan (2002). *The Historical Development Comes True in Information Industry of China* <<http://www.mii.gov.cn/Mii/homepage.nsf/documentview/2002-10-18-22-F6B0B298B36FA2D948256C56000A8CB7?OpenDocument>>.
47. Chen Yuping (2002). Ten Trends in China's Mobile Telecommunications Market <<http://www.chinamobile.com/readnews/news1.htm>>.
48. See note 46.
49. CCID Consulting (2002). A Review of China's Computer Market for the First Half Year <<http://market.ccidnet.com/pub/disp/Article?columnID=410&articleID=22574&pageNO=1>>.
50. Zhao Tianwu & Jin Yuzhong (2000). The Way to Develop Chinese Software Industry: Research Abstract on the Social Environment of Software Industry <<http://www.chinesebsa.org/bsa/cankao/fazhan3.html>>.
51. Luo Wen (2003). The Progress in the Challenge – The Situation and Development Trend of China's IT Market in 2002 <<http://www.e-works.net.cn/ewkArticles/category14/Article12483.htm>>.
52. *Research Report on the Development of China's Call Center Industry 2002* <http://www.ctiforum.com/users/survey/2002/callcenter/survey_cc2002_05.htm>. Quoted from a secondary resource: Press Release on the Exhibition of International Client Service Center and Client Relationship Management <<http://www.ctiforum.com/expo/2002/callcenter2002/callcenter03.htm>>
53. Shen Jiangying & Wu Ying (2002). The Perspective One on the Development of Network in China: Taking on Ten New Trends <<http://wy.cnii.com.cn/20020714/ca57063.htm>>.
54. Xinhua Net (2002). Four Needs and Four Focal Points of the Development of Chinese E-Government Project <<http://www.nxinfo.gov.cn/nxnews/gnxw/2/10-12/121005.htm>>.
55. Memorabilia of the Development of E-Government Project (2002) <http://www.gx.cninfo.net/gov/gov_gaishu.html>.
56. See note 54.
57. General Office of the (CPC) Central Committee (2002). *Instructions of National Informationisation Lead Group on the Construction of Chinese E-Government*. File No. 17 <<http://www.anyi.com.cn/news/news.asp?articleid=1027>>.
58. Ibid.
59. Ibid.
60. *People's Daily*, 3 January 1999.
61. See note 57.
62. Two Bills Will be Issued and the Government Can't Conceal the Information on Government Affairs Without Authorisation (2002) <<http://www.china.org.cn/chinese/2002/Dec/243432.htm>>.
63. See note 54.
64. Xinhua Net (2002). This Year Chinese Payment on E-Government Project Will be up to RMB 35 Billion <<http://www.echinakey.com/news/articleshow.asp?ID=1801>>.
65. Luo Zhini (2002). China Energetically Promotes Informationisation Which Shows a Captivating "Big Cake" <<http://www.people.com.cn/GB/it/49/4695/20020808/795544.html>>.
66. CNNIC (2002). *China Internet Yearbook 2002*. p. 114.
67. Ibid, p. 95
68. Ibid.
69. Issued by the State Council on 20 August 1999. <<http://www.nast.org.cn/Site/kjzcold/cyh.htm>>.
70. Issued by the Office of State Council in 1999, No. 47. <http://chanye.cashq.ac.cn/info_www/news/detailnewsb.asp?InfoNo=436>.
71. Issued by the State Economic and Trade Commission on 6 July 2000 <http://www.setc.gov.cn/trs_html/setc_cyzc_main93.htm>.
72. Issued by the Ministry of Science and Technology, Education Department, Ministry of Personnel, Ministry of Finance, People's Bank of China, State Bureau of Tax and the Bureau of Business on 30 March 1999 <<http://www.jstd.gov.cn/kw/fg/gk10.htm>>.
73. Issued by the State Council on 23 May 1999 <<http://www.chaxin.org.cn/fagui/fagui-4.htm>>.
74. Discussed and passed by a meeting of the Ministry of Science and Technology on 24 December 1999 <<http://www.chaxin.org.cn/fagui/fagui-7.htm>>.
75. Issued by the Office of the State Council in 1999, No. 67 <http://chanye.cashq.ac.cn/info_www/news/detailnewsb.asp?InfoNo=445>.
76. Issued by the Office of the State Council in 2000, No. 18 <http://www.csia.org.cn/government/policy_state_department200018.htm>.
77. Authorised by the 4th Meeting of the 9th National People's Congress (NPC) on 15 March 2001 <http://chanye.cashq.ac.cn/info_www/news/detailnewsb.asp?InfoNo=548>.
78. *People's Daily* (2002). Digital Television Shows Its Superiority, But Not Available to the Family Now <<http://www.abs.ac.cn/info/news.asp?new=2948>>.
79. Huan Xiaowei (2002). Digital Television Creates Opportunity to Make Money <<http://www.c114.net/market/marketread.asp?articleid=3987>>.

80. Li Yongwen & Zhang Qing (2002). The 2002 World Bank's Information Annual Meeting: Let the West Get Informationisation Wings <<http://www.cas.ac.cn/html/Dir/2002/12/09/3704.htm>>.
81. Revised and put in force by NPC on 25 December 1999 <http://www.lawbase.net.cn/china_exam/law.asp?lawid=1357>.
82. Passed by the 19th Congress of the Standing Committee of the 9th NPC on 28 December 2000 <<http://www.people.com.cn/GB/channel1/10/20001229/365770.html>>.
83. Issued and put in force by the State Council on 18 February 1994 <<http://www.cnnic.com.cn/policy/5.shtml>>.
84. Passed by the 1113th Meeting of the Judgement Commission of the Court on 28 April 2000 <http://www.angelaw.com/weblaw/c_weblaw60.htm>.
85. Authorised by the State Council on 11 December 1997. Issued and put in force by the Ministry of Public Security on 30 December 1997 <http://www.angelaw.com/weblaw/c_weblaw08.htm>.
86. Issued and put in force by the Bureau of State Secrecy on 26 February 1998 <http://www.jcinfo.gov.cn/information/zcfg_1.htm>.
87. Issued and put in force by the Bureau of State Secrecy on 1 January 2000 <http://www.jcinfo.gov.cn/information/zcfg_8.htm>.
88. Issued and put in force by the Ministry of Public Security on 26 April 2000 <http://www.jcinfo.gov.cn/information/zcfg_10.htm>.
89. Issued by the State Council on 25 September 2000 <http://www.angelaw.com/weblaw/c_weblaw61.htm>.
90. Issued by the State Council on 25 September 2000 <http://www.angelaw.com/weblaw/c_weblaw62.htm>.
91. Issued by the State Council on 1 December 2001 and enforced on 1 January 2002 <<http://www.people.com.cn/GB/it/49/149/20011220/631422.html>>.
92. Passed by the 83rd Meeting of the Standing Committee of the State Council on 24 May 1991 <http://www.angelaw.com/weblaw/c_weblaw36.htm>.
93. Issued by the Ministry of Electronics Industry on 6 April 1992 <http://www.angelaw.com/weblaw/c_weblaw37.htm>.
94. Passed by the 1,144th Meeting of the Judgement Commission of the Court <http://www.angelaw.com/weblaw/c_weblaw74.htm>.
95. Issued by the 36th Meeting of the Standing Committee of the State Council on 28 March 2001 <<http://www.people.com.cn/GB/it/49/149/20010420/447044.html>>.
96. Passed by the 15th Meeting of the 7th Standing Committee of NPC on 7 September 1990. The 24th Meeting of the Standing Committee of the 9th NPC passed the *Amended Decision on Revising the Copyright Law of the People's Republic of China* on 27 October 2001 <<http://www.edu.cn/20011105/3008137.shtml>>.
97. Authorised by the State Council on 24 May 1991 and issued by the Bureau of State Authorisation on 30 May 1991. The *Act of Copyright Law of the People's Republic of China* was revised and passed by the State Council on 2 August 2002 <<http://www.people.com.cn/GB/jinji/20020814/799747.html>>.
98. Issued by the State Council on 25 September 1992 <<http://www.people.com.cn/electric/flfg/d6/920925.html>>.
99. Passed by the 3rd Meeting of the Standing Committee of the 8th NPC on 2 September 1993 <http://www.angelaw.com/weblaw/c_weblaw48.htm>.
100. Passed by the 24th Meeting of the Standing Committee of the 5th NPC on 23 August 1982 and revised according to *the Revisions on the Decision on the Trademark Law of the People's Republic of China* at the 30th Meeting of the Standing Committee of the 7th NPC on 22 February 1993 <<http://www.edu.cn/20010101/21377.shtml>>.
101. Passed by the 28th Meeting of the Standing Committee of the 9th NPC on 12 March 1984 and revised by the 27th Meeting of the Standing Committee of the 7th NPC on 4 September 1992 <<http://www.edu.cn/20010101/21385.shtml>>.
102. Issued by the Ministry of Information Industry on 1 August 2002 <<http://www.cnnic.net.cn/ruler/1.shtml>>.
103. Issued by CNNIC and enforced on 1 December 2002 <<http://www.cnnic.net.cn/ruler/16.shtml>>.
104. Passed by the 1,182nd Meeting of the Judgement Commission of the Court on 26 June 2001 <<http://www.cnnic.net.cn/policy/32.shtml>>.
105. Issued by CNNIC and enforced on 30 September 2002 <<http://www.cnnic.net.cn/ruler/14.shtml>>.
106. Act No. 292 Issued by the State Council on 25 September 2000 <<http://www.cnnic.com.cn/policy/18.shtml>>.
107. Issued by News Office of the State Council, Ministry of Information Industry on 7 November 2000 <<http://www.cnnic.net.cn/policy/22.shtml>>.
108. Ministry of Information Industry *Act No. 3 (2000)* <<http://www.cnnic.net.cn/policy/21.shtml>>.
109. Issued by the Ministry of Public Health on 8 January 2001 <<http://www.cnnic.net.cn/annual2002/24.shtml>>.
110. Issued by the Bureau of Supervision and Administration on Medicine on 11 January 2001 <<http://www.cnnic.net.cn/annual2002/23.shtml>>.
111. Issued by the Bureau of Radio, Film and Television in October 1999 <http://www.angelaw.com/weblaw/c_weblaw54.htm>.
112. Issued by the Ministry of Information Industry on 27 June 2002 <<http://www.chinabyte.com/20020715/1620465.shtml>>.
113. Issued by the Ministry of Information Industry and State Development Planning Commission on 4 January 2002 <<http://www.cnnic.net.cn/annual2002/12.shtml>>.
114. Issued by the Ministry of Information Industry on 26 December 2001 <<http://www.cnnic.net.cn/annual2002/13.shtml>>.

115. Ministry of Information Industry of China (9 November 2001) Available webpage: <<http://www.cnnic.net.cn/annual2002/14.shtml>>.
116. Ministry of Information Industry (8 October 2001) <<http://www.cnnic.net.cn/annual2002/16.shtml>>.
117. Ministry of Information Industry (29 September 2001) <<http://www.cnnic.net.cn/annual2002/17.shtml>>.
118. Ministry of Information Industry. *Act No. 8 (2002)* <<http://www.isc.org.cn/20020417/ca42727.htm>>.
119. Passed by the 21st Meeting of the Standing Committee of the 6th NPC on 23 June 1987 <<http://www.chaxin.org.cn/fagui/falu.htm>>.
120. Issued by the State Drug Administration Bureau on 26 June 2000 <http://www.angelaw.com/weblaw/c_weblaw80.htm>.
121. Bureau of State Secrecy (2000). No. 20 <http://www.itsec.gov.cn/zcfg/stock_law/main.htm>.
122. Issued by the Securities Supervision Commission of China on 29 April 2000 <<http://www.china.com.cn/chinese/zhuanti/194608.htm>>.
123. Issued by the People's Bank of China on 9 July 2001 <http://www.angelaw.com/weblaw/c_weblaw96.htm>.
124. Han Fang (2000). The Present Situation and Other Aspects of Linux in Chinese <<http://www.redflaglinux.com/source/Documents/Linuxchinese.html>>.
125. <<http://www.xteamlinux.com.cn>>.
126. <<http://www.turbolinux.com.cn>>.
127. <<http://linux.cosix.com.cn>>.
128. <<http://www.redflag-linux.com>>.
129. The Tenth Five-Year Plan of the Development Strategy for the Software Industry (2001) <http://www8.ccidnet.com/news/policy/2001/09/30_54_54755.html>.
130. Liu Yusheng (The News Agency) (2000). Chinese Commerce Cooperates to Push the Development of Chinese Linux Software <<http://tech.sina.com.cn/it/enterprise/2000-08-31/35370.shtml>>.
131. <<http://www.linuxworldchina.com>>.
132. Wang Hongliang (2002). Beijing Says "No" to XP <<http://www.zdnet.com.cn/news/commentary/story/0,2000079395,20037175,00.htm>>.
133. Passed by the 28th Meeting of the Standing Committee of the 9th NPC on 29 June 2002 <<http://www.people.com.cn/GB/jinji/20020629/764316.html>>.
134. Evans Data Corp. *2002 Chinese Developer Survey* <<http://www.eetimes.com/special/special-issues/2002/techtrends2002.html>>.
135. Speech made on 11 July 2001 and published in the *People's Daily*, 12 July 2001.
136. Chen Yuping (2002). Ten Trends in China's Mobile Telecom Market <<http://www.chinamobile.com/ydsc/market.asp>>.
137. Xinhua Net (2002). Shanghai Prepares Schedule to Extend Digital Television <http://www.chinadt.net/chinadt/china/news/new_content.asp?newid=5310>.
138. *China Daily* (2002). Era of Full Competition Arrives as Second Operator Launched <http://search.chinadaily.com.cn/isearch/i_textinfo.exe?dbname=netnews_static&listid=31253>.